STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

AFT MICHIGAN, et al,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v

STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

**THIS APPEAL INVOLVES A RULING
THAT A PROVISION OF THE
CONSTITUTION, A STATUTE, RULE
OR REGULATION, OR OTHER STATE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTION IS
INVALID**

Supreme Court No. 154117

Court Of Appeals Docket No. 303702

Court Of Claims No. 10-000091-MM

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS' BRIEF
ON APPEAL**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

TIMOTHY L. JOHNSON, JANET HESLET,
RICKY A. MACK and DENISE ZIEJA,

Plaintiffs-Appellees/Cross-Appellants

v

PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEES
RETIREMENT SYSTEM, PUBLIC SCHOOL
EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
BOARD, TRUST FOR PUBLIC EMPLOYEE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1) this Court has discretion to review a final decision of the Michigan Court of Appeals. On May 31, 2017, this Court granted Appellants' Application for Leave to Appeal the Court of Appeals' June 7, 2016 split decision holding that 2010 PA 75 ("PA 75"), which amended the Public School Employees Retirement Act of 1979 ("PSERA"), MCL 38.1301 *et seq.*, to require public school employees to contribute 3% of their salary to a fund to help offset the costs of their retiree health benefits plan provided under PSERA, was unconstitutional under the Contracts Clauses of the state and federal Constitutions, Const 1963, art 1, § 10, and US Const, art I, § 10; the Takings Clauses of the state and federal Constitutions, Const 1963, art 10, § 2 and US Const Ams V and XIV; and the guarantees of substantive due process in the state and federal Constitutions, Const 1963, art 1, § 17, and US Const Am XIV, §1. Although this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' initial finding of unconstitutionality after 2012 PA 300 ("PA 300") amended PA 75, the Court of Appeals also found that the issue of PA 75's constitutionality was not moot. The Court further ordered the State to refund all public school employee contributions made pursuant to PA 75 (totaling approximately \$550 million), even though now those employees will receive the benefit of either retiree health benefits or a refund of their contributions if they do not vest for the benefit based on PA 300.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS INVOLVED

1. Does 2010 PA 75, requiring public school employees to contribute to a fund to pay a portion of the cost of their own retiree health benefits fund, violate the Contract Clause's prohibition against "impairing the obligation of contracts"?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

2. Does 2010 PA 75, requiring public school employees to contribute to a fund to pay a portion of the cost of their own retiree health benefits fund, constitute a taking of private property for public use without just compensation in violation of the Constitution even though every employee will be compensated by receiving a benefit equal to no less than the amount that employee contributes toward that fund?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

3. Does 2010 PA 75 violate a fundamental right that is not reasonably related to a legitimate governmental interest by requiring public school employees to contribute to a fund to pay a portion of the cost of their own retiree health benefits fund and not align with the State's police power or further a public interest?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

4. To the extent 2010 PA 75 was unconstitutional, did the Legislature enacting 2012 PA 300 cure any constitutional infirmities?

Appellants' answer: Yes.

Appellees' answer: No.

Court of Appeals' answer: No.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To the extent 2010 PA 75 (“PA 75”) violated the Constitution, the Legislature cured such constitutional infirmities by enacting 2012 PA 300 (“PA 300”). This Court’s reasoning in *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 497 Mich 197, 247; 866 NW2d 782 (2015) (“*AFT I*”) is equally applicable in this case and makes clear that, because all funds collected under PA 75 are now treated as though collected pursuant to PA 300, the Legislature cured any previous constitutional defects such that the funds collected under PA 75 were validly collected. Whether contributions came before or after PA 300, PA 300’s protections now equally apply to funds contributed under PA 75. Accordingly, this Court should adopt its reasoning from *AFT II* to conclude that PA 300 constitutionally cleansed all funds collected under PA 75.

After determining that PA 300 is constitutional, this Court directed the Court of Appeals to “consider what issues presented in these cases have been superseded by the enactment of 2012 PA 300 and this Court’s decision upholding that Act, and [to] only address any outstanding issues the parties may raise regarding 2010 PA 75 that were not superseded or otherwise rendered moot by that enactment and decision.” *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 498 Mich 851; 864 NW2d 555 (2015) (emphasis added). Despite this Court’s clear directive, however, the Court of Appeals failed to meaningfully analyze whether any issues were superseded. Instead, the Court of Appeals found that PA 75 violates the Takings, Due Process, and Contracts Clauses, and ignored that the Legislature fixed and superseded PA 75’s alleged infirmities by enacting PA 300 to provide employees two options with regard to the funds contributed under PA 75: (1) opt-in and have their contributions included in the trust account such that employees are guaranteed to receive a health care benefit of at least as much as they contributed; or (2) opt-out and receive a refund of their contributions made under PA 75 and PA 300.

Due Process Clause

The Court of Appeals' holding with regard to the Due Process Clause is flawed and is inconsistent with this Court's prior holdings. The \$550 million collected under PA 75 is now controlled by PA 300 and was needed to address an existential crisis with Michigan's teacher retirement system. Indeed, the Legislature crafted a solution to allow the system to survive—by asking employees to contribute 3% of their compensation toward their own retiree health care system. This solution was not only rationally related to a legitimate government purpose, but was also narrowly tailored to effectuate that purpose by ensuring members would benefit from their contributions, either in the form of subsidized retiree health care, a supplemental retirement allowance, or both, in exchange for only covering a fraction of the overall cost of maintaining the retiree health care system. As this Court explained in *AFT II*, “[t]he state’s purpose advanced by the challenged portions of 2012 PA 300—implementing a fiscally responsible system by which to fund public school employees’ retiree healthcare—is unquestionably legitimate.” *AFT II*, 497 Mich 197, 247; 866 NW2d 782 (2015). Because the Legislature had the same “unquestionably legitimate” objective in enacting PA 75, it is not arbitrary or capricious and the Union’s due process claims are fatally flawed.

Takings Clause

The Court of Appeals found that requiring employees to contribute to the health care benefits fund is an unlawful governmental taking, even though each contributing member consented to such withholdings when they chose to become, or remain, employed by a public school after July 1, 2010. Additionally, PA 300 ensures that everyone who contributed to the fund would receive the value of their contributions through subsidized retiree health care, a refund of their contributions, or both.

Contracts Clause

Finally, the Court of Appeals found a violation of the Contracts Clause even though the State has no contract with employees and PA 75 does not impact employees' rights or benefits under a contract, but instead requires a contribution toward retiree health care benefits that the Legislature determined to be in the public interest. This Court's analysis in *AFT II* is instructive, if not determinative, of the Contracts Clause issue. Specifically, the Court in *AFT II* reaffirmed in the exact context, and under the same statutory framework, that public school employees do not have a "contractual right" to receive retiree health care, let alone a right that insulates their future pay from duly-imposed retiree health care deductions.

The Court of Appeals' finding that PA 75 is unconstitutional is inconsistent with this Court's holding in *AFT II* and other applicable precedent. This Court should apply that precedent and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision with regard to the constitutionality of PA 75.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

PA 75 took effect in May 2010 and required all members of the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (“MPERS”) to contribute either 1.5% or 3% of their compensation to help fund the cost of health benefits for members and their dependents when they retire. **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 1a-14a.** Along with PA 75, the Legislature enacted 2010 PA 77 (“PA 77”), which created a retiree healthcare trust. **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 15a-18a.** PA 75 contributions are required to go into the trust and be used to fund and prefund health benefits for current and future MPERS retirees. MCL 38.2733(6). Over \$550 million has been contributed under PA 75 and is being held in an interest-bearing account pending a final determination of the constitutionality of PA 75. **Appellants’ Appendix, p 269a.**

In 2010, Plaintiffs in these cases filed separate Complaints in the Court of Claims, alleging that PA 75 effected an unconstitutional taking of private property without just compensation, impairment of contract, and violation of substantive due process. Complaints included as **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 19a-98a.** The Court of Claims ultimately ruled that PA 75 violated the Takings and Due Process Clauses, but did not violate the Contracts Clause. **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 99a-130a.**

The Court of Appeals then ruled, in a 2-1 decision, that PA 75 violated the Takings and Due Process Clauses, and went on to hold that PA 75 also violated the Contracts Clause. *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 297 Mich App 597; 825 NW2d 595 (2012) (*AFT I*). **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 132a-160a.** Judge Saad dissented on each constitutional issue and would have granted summary disposition in favor of the State. *Id.* at 627.

After the State filed an application for leave to appeal *AFT I* to this Court, but before this Court could rule on the merits, PA 300 became effective. PA 300 attached as **Appellants’**

Appendix, pp 232a-251a. PA 300 was enacted, in part, as a preemptive attempt to cure any purported constitutional infirmities concerning contributions for retiree health benefits. In fact, the Legislature in PA 300 specifically recognized the need for contributions under both PA 75 and PA 300 to be deemed constitutional so that MPSERS could prefund health benefit obligations for future retirees (i.e., current public school employees). To this end, section 41 of PSERA provides, in part, as follows:

Beginning in the 2012-2013 state fiscal year and for each subsequent fiscal year, if the contributions described in section 43e are determined by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction for which all rights of appeal have been exhausted to be unconstitutional and the contributions are not deposited into the appropriate funding account referenced in section 43e, the contribution rate for health benefits provided under section 91 shall be computed using a cash disbursement method. MCL 38.1341(2).

Accordingly, the Legislature provided a contingency plan in which MPSERS will revert back to a cash disbursement (also known as “pay as you go”) method if the Court of Appeals’ decision on the contributions under PA 75 is allowed to stand, meaning the State would no longer prefund the MPSERS healthcare program. PA 300 applies to all retiree healthcare contributions remitted under section 43e—including specifically those funds required under PA 75—and permitted public school employees to opt out of retiree health benefits and, therefore, not make the 3 percent contribution. *Id.* Specifically, employees had the opportunity to opt out of the plan and instead participate in a tax-advantaged, 401(k)-style, portable health account option. MCL 38.1391a(5), (7). Under PA 300, members not opting out continue to make the contributions under section 43e and are assured of receiving the value of their contribution, either in the form of retiree health benefits, a refund, or both. MCL 38.1391(1); MCL 38.1391a(8).

Public school employees then challenged PA 300 on grounds similar to those raised against PA 75. Complaints attached as **Appellants' Appendix, pp 161a-231a**. This time, however, their challenges were denied by both the Court of Claims, **Appellants' Appendix pp 263a-267a**, and Court of Appeals, which found PA 300 constitutional, primarily because of the voluntary nature of the contributions made under section 43e, but also because of the refund mechanism provided under PA 300. *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 303 Mich App 651; 846 NW2d 583 (2014) (*AFT II*). **Appellants' Appendix, pp 270a-298a**.

With the State's application for leave to appeal the Court of Appeals' rulings over PA 75 in *AFT I* still pending, the Plaintiffs in the PA 300 cases sought leave to appeal *AFT II* to this Court. This Court granted leave to appeal and also held in abeyance the State's application for leave to appeal the Court of Appeals' decision regarding PA 75 in *AFT I*. **Appellants' Appendix, pp 299a-302a, pp 303a-305a**. Ultimately, in *AFT II*, this Court, like the Court of Claims and Court of Appeals, upheld the constitutional validity of PA 300. In so doing, this Court concluded that PA 300 did not violate the Takings Clause, the Contracts Clause, or Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights. *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 497 Mich 197; 866 NW2d 782 (2015). **Appellants' Appendix, pp 306a-358a**.

After upholding PA 300, this Court took the instant cases out of abeyance, vacated the Court of Appeals' decision in *AFT I*, and remanded the case to the Court of Appeals. *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 498 Mich 851; 864 NW2d 555 (2015). **Appellants' Appendix, pp 359a-362a**. The remand order directed the Court of Appeals to "consider what issues presented in these cases have been superseded by the enactment of 2012 PA 300 and this Court's decision upholding that Act, and [to] only address any outstanding issues the parties may raise

regarding 2010 PA 75 that were not superseded or otherwise rendered moot by that enactment and decision.” *Id.*

On remand, the Court of Appeals in a 2-1 decision found that *AFT II* does not render the question of PA 75’s constitutionality moot, and held that PA 75 violated the Contracts Clause, the Takings Clause, and the Due Process Clause, and was unreasonable, arbitrary, and capricious. *AFT Michigan v State of Michigan*, 315 Mich App 602; 893 NW2d 90 (2016). **Appellants’ Appendix, pp 433a-462a.** This Court then granted the State’s application for leave to appeal that decision.

ARGUMENT

PA 75 is constitutional and the Court of Appeals erred in holding otherwise. The Court of Appeals’ decision rests on the premise that public school employees cannot be required to contribute to a fund in which they have no “vested” benefit. If true, this is a novel proposition that is wholly foreign to this State’s jurisprudence. Not only did the Court of Appeals err in not applying a presumption of constitutionality to PA 75 and not finding that the issues before it were moot because of this Court’s decision in *AFT II*, it also erred in its constitutional analysis regarding the Contracts Clause, Takings Clause, and Due Process Clause.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves questions of statutory construction and constitutional validity, which are both reviewed *de novo*. *People v Stewart*, 472 Mich 624, 631; 698 NW2d 340 (2005); *People v Nutt*, 469 Mich 565, 573; 677 NW2d 1 (2004). In reviewing statutes through a lens of constitutionality, “[s]tatutes are presumed to be constitutional, and courts have a duty to construe a statute as constitutional unless its unconstitutionality is clearly apparent.” *Taylor v Smithkline Beecham Corp*, 468 Mich 1, 6; 658 NW2d 127 (2003). This Court has explained that “[w]e

exercise the power to declare a law unconstitutional with extreme caution, and we never exercise it where serious doubt exists with regard to the conflict.” *Phillips v Mirac, Inc*, 470 Mich 415, 422; 685 NW2d 174 (2004). Therefore, “the burden of proving that a statute is unconstitutional rests with the party challenging it.” *In re Request for Advisory Opinion Regarding Constitutionality of 2005 PA 71*, 479 Mich 1, 11; 740 NW2d 444 (2007). If the challenge to the legislation is based on substantive due process, as here, and the legislation does not affect a fundamental right or suspect classification, the rational basis test applies, and the Court examines whether the law is “rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose.” *Conlin v Scio Twp*, 262 Mich App 379, 390; 686 NW2d 16 (2004); *Lingle v Chevron USA, Inc*, 544 US 528, 542; 125 S Ct 2074; 161 L Ed 2d 876 (2005).

II. PA 75 IS AN EXERCISE OF PLENARY LEGISLATIVE POWER, IS PRESUMED CONSTITUTIONAL, AND THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY FAILING TO DEFER TO THE LEGISLATURE’S JUDGMENT.

A. The Court of Appeals Erred By Failing to Recognize That PA 75 Is Presumed Constitutional.

Like all laws enacted by the Legislature, PA 75 is entitled to a presumption of constitutionality. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to use that presumption to start its analysis of PA 75. This Court has directed that, when reviewing the constitutionality of a law, “all possible presumptions should be afforded to find constitutionality.” *Advisory Opinion re Constitutionality of 1972 PA 294*, 389 Mich 441, 464; 208 NW2d 469 (1973). The Court of Appeals’ failure to afford all possible presumptions to find PA 75 constitutional caused the Court of Appeals to reach an incorrect decision. As explained in *Gora v City of Ferndale*, 456 Mich 704, 720; 576 NW2d 141 (1998):

One of the reasons underlying this presumption is that persons holding legislative office . . . are duty-bound to act in conformity with their oaths to support the Michigan and federal constitutions, just as are members of the judiciary. *Marbury v Madison*, 5 U.S.

(1 Cranch) 137, 179-180, 2 L Ed 60 (1803). As Justice Holmes put it, “it must be remembered that legislatures are ultimate guardians of the liberties and welfare of the people in quite as great a degree as the courts.” *Missouri, Kansas & Texas R Co v May*, 194 US 267, 270; 24 S Ct 638; 48 L Ed 971 (1904).

Under this presumption, a legislative enactment must be presumed constitutional, unless its unconstitutionality is clearly apparent. *Taylor*, 468 Mich at 6. The fact that a statute “‘might operate unconstitutionally under some conceivable set of circumstances is insufficient” to find it unconstitutional. *Council of Organizations & Others for Ed About Parochiaid, Inc v Governor*, 455 Mich 557, 568; 566 NW2d 208 (1997), quoting *United States v Salerno*, 481 US 739, 745; 107 S Ct 2095; 95 L Ed 2d 697 (1987).

Neither Appellees nor the Court of Appeals provide any reason to overcome the strong presumption of constitutionality of PA 75, let alone the requisite “clearly apparent” reasons. As this Court has explained:

Every reasonable presumption or intendment must be indulged in favor of the validity of an act, and it is only when invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no room for reasonable doubt that it violates some provision of the Constitution that a court will refuse to sustain its validity. *Cady v Detroit*, 289 Mich 499, 505; 286 NW2d 805 (1939).

For instance, in *Advisory Opinion on Constitutionality of 1986 PA 281*, 430 Mich 93; 422 NW2d 186 (1988), this Court considered whether tax increment financing provisions under a state law unconstitutionally diverted tax revenue from local taxing jurisdictions in violation of limits on taxation imposed by Const 1963, art 9, § 6. The Court first stated that “[t]he statute is vested with a presumption of constitutionality, and it is not our role to second-guess the Legislature regarding the wisdom of tax increment financing from a policy perspective.” *Id.* at 110 (footnote omitted). Relying upon the plain language of Const 1963, art 9, § 6, the Court held the statutory

tax financing provisions were not unconstitutional because nothing in the language of the constitutional provision restricted the use of tax revenue. *Id.* at 116.

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