STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

AFT MICHIGAN, et al,

Supreme Court No. 154117 Court of Appeals No. 303702

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

Court of Claims Docket No. 10-91-MM

VS.

STATE OF MICHIGAN,

THIS APPEAL INVOLVES A RULING THAT A PROVISION OF THE CONSTITUTION, A STATUTE, RULE, OR REGULATION, OR OTHER STATE

Defendant-Appellant.

GOVERNMENTAL ACTION IS INVALID

TIMOTHY L. JOHNSON, JANET HESLET, RICKY A. MACK, and DENISE ZIEJA,

Supreme Court No. 154118 Court of Appeals No. 303704

Court of Claims Docket No. 10-47-MM

Plaintiffs-Appellees/Cross-Appellants,

vs.

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

2008 PA 499 created an entirely new jurisdictional standard, granting jurisdiction over out-of-state injuries of Michigan employees whose contracts of hire were not made in Michigan. That is, this amendment did not restore the status quo before Karaczewski, which required a Michigan contract of hire for jurisdiction, but instead created a new rule under which either a Michigan contract of hire or Michigan residency would suffice. In light of these circumstances and the text of the amendment, we simply can discern no clearly manifested legislative intent to apply the amendment retroactively.

Brewer, 486 Mich at 57 (boldface added; italics in original).

In the present case, PA 300 was signed into law *after* the Court of Appeals initially determined in *AFT I* the mandatory 3% deduction from members' earned compensation was unconstitutional. The amendments in PA 300 following *AFT I*, like those in *Brewer*, did not return the law to the status quo. Instead, PA 300 created a dramatically different set of substantive laws altogether.

Defendants suggest that the revisions made by PA 300 to Section 41 of the Retirement Act; MCL 38.1341, demonstrate the Legislature's intention to apply the amendments retroactively. (See, Defendants' Brief, at 40, n 5.) However, if anything, the terms of the revised Section 41(2) demonstrate that PA 300's terms applied prospectively only. According to the excerpt cited by Defendants:

Beginning in the 2012-2013 state fiscal year and for each subsequent fiscal year, if the contributions described in section 43e are determined by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction for which all rights of appeal have been exhausted to be unconstitutional and the contributions are not deposited into the appropriate funding account referenced in section 43e, the contribution rate for health benefits provided under section 91 shall be computed using a cash disbursement method. (Emphasis added.)

The above language was not included in PA 75, and was added by PA 300. Such language leaves no doubt that the changes in PA 300 were *not* intended to apply to occurrences prior to its adoption. It speaks from a prospective standpoint, applying only to future events.

As demonstrated by the highlighted terms, the contribution rate and funding method described in Section 41(2) could only be affected *after* PA 300 went into effect (i.e., September 4, 2012) since those terms would only apply beginning with the State's 2012-2013 fiscal year, and not before the 2012-2013 state fiscal year. The mandatory contributions at issue with PA 75 preceded the 2012-2013 fiscal year, as they were in effect during fiscal years 2010-2011 and 2011-2012. Any contributions for fiscal year 2012-2013 and forward would be under the PA 300 scheme, where the voluntariness of those contributions rendered it constitutional. That was not the case with PA 75 and its mandatory 3% deduction.

B. The possible exception to the presumption against retroactivity does not apply.

The fact PA 300 made *substantive* changes to the Retirement Act beyond those made by PA 75 is important. Although there is an exception to the general rule that statutes and amendments do not operate retroactively, that exception only applies if the statutory change is "remedial" or procedural in nature. However, this Court has "rejected the notion a statute significantly affecting a party's substantive rights should be applied retroactively merely because it can also be characterized in a sense as 'remedial.'" *Frank W Lynch*, 463 Mich at 585. "[T]he term 'remedial' in this context should *only be employed to describe legislation that does not affect substantive rights." Johnson*, 491 Mich at 433 (emphasis in original).

Application of this principle is further illustrated in *Lenawee Co v Wagley*, 301 Mich App 134; 836 NW2d 193 (2013). There, the Legislature amended the Uniform Condemnation Procedures Act (UCPA) during the pendency of the action in the lower court. The amendment to the UCPA created a new right to an enhanced just compensation award that did not exist before, and imposed a converse duty on the condemning agency to remit an enhanced award. *Lenawee Co*, 301 Mich App at 175. In light of these circumstances, the Court determined the

amendment created "new obligations which counsels against retroactive application." *Lenawee Co*, 301 Mich App at 176. The Court further explained:

Irrespective of whether a statute qualifies as procedural or otherwise remedial, a court may not retroactively apply the statute if this application would abrogate or impair vested rights, create new obligations, or "attach [] new disabilities regarding transactions or considerations that have already occurred."

Id. (citations omitted).

Similarly, in *Brewer*, supra, this Court also refused to apply the new act retroactively under the "remedial-procedural" exception, where the amendment "created an important new legal burden and potentially enlarged existing rights." *Brewer*, 486 Mich at 57-58.

The US Supreme Court has stated, "The inquiry into whether a statute operates retroactively demands a commonsense, functional judgment about 'whether the new provision attaches new legal consequences to events completed before its enactment." *Martin v Hadix*, 527 US 343, 357-358 (1999) (quoting *Landgraf*, 511 US at 270 (1994)). Whether a particular statute acts retroactively should be informed and guided by "familiar considerations of fair notice, reasonable reliance, and settled expectations." *INS*, supra, at 321; *Martin*, supra, at 358; *Landgraf*, supra, at 270. Indeed, in *Frank W Lynch*, this Court refused to apply the amendments to the SRCA retroactively where, *inter alia*, "retroactive application of the SRCA would change significantly the substance of the parties' agreement and unsettle their expectations." *Frank W Lynch*, 463 Mich at 585.

Importantly, "A statute may not be applied retroactively if it abrogates or impairs vested rights, creates new obligations, or attaches new disabilities concerning transactions or

considerations occurring in the past." *Davis*, supra, at 158 (citation omitted).² As *Davis* acknowledged in the accompanying footnote to that statement, the Due Process Clause protects the interests in fair notice and repose that may be compromised by retroactive legislation, and justification sufficient to validate a statute's prospective application under the clause may not suffice to warrant its retroactive application. *Davis*, supra, at 158, n 3, citing *Landgraf*, supra, at 266.

The situation arising with PA 300 and *AFT II* falls within the above cases and principles. Retroactive application of PA 300 would create new obligations and attach new disabilities concerning transactions or considerations occurring in the past under PA 75. As confirmed by Defendants, "PA 300 added real, tangible protections that did not previously exist under PA 75...." (Defendants' Brief, at 39.) As identified by the Court of Appeals, "The 2012 act [PA 300] did not repeal MCL 38.1343e, but it added provisions substantially altering that section's scope and effect." *AFT III*, 315 Mich App at 610.

PA 75, on the other hand, initially exposed all members of the Retirement System to a *mandatory* deduction of 3% from their earned compensation. At that time, no member had the ability to "opt out" of this deduction, as was ultimately the controlling factor in upholding the constitutionality of PA 300 in *AFT II*. While PA 300 added MCL 38.1391a(5) to give members a "choice" to either stay in the retiree health care plan and pay 3% of their earned compensation *or* opt out of the deduction and into the Tier 2 plan, PA 75 provided no such choice.

Furthermore, it is important to understand what this Court's decision in *AFT II* did not decide. *AFT II* did not rule on the retroactive application of the amendments made by PA 300,

²According to *Davis*, "[I]t must be observed that the presumption against statutory retroactivity is not restricted to actions involving vested rights." *Davis*, supra, at 158, citing *Landgraf*, 511 US at 275, n 29.

i.e., it did not determine that money taken from public school employees prior to PA 300 was part of the "voluntary" decision public school employees were forced to make as part of PA 300.

AFT II expressly stated it was only ruling on the constitutionality of PA 300, and not PA 75.

The basis for its ruling was the voluntary options afforded by PA 300 but not present in PA 75.

Referring back to the excerpt from Section 41(2), that provision was added by the Legislature through PA 300 *after* the Court of Appeals declared PA 75 to be unconstitutional on three separate grounds. The Legislature knew that the funding provisions under PA 75 were undoubtedly unconstitutional and enacted an entirely new scheme under which employees could be forced to pay some portion of their health care and retirement. The Legislature could have expressly stated that any money previously collected pursuant to PA 75 would remain with the State and be placed in the irrevocable trust fund established in 2010 PA 77 if PA 300 was ultimately declared to be constitutional. Yet, it never mentioned in any respect that the money taken from the employees pursuant to PA 75 would be retained by the State through PA 300.

In an attempt to argue that PA 300 was curative, Defendants suggest the following:

Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has, in the past, upheld a legislative body's enactment of a subsequent law to cure an identified defect in order to ratify and uphold actions undertaken pursuant to the deficient law.

Defendant's Brief, at 44.

A careful reading of the only two cases cited for this proposition – *United States v Heinszen & Co*, 206 US 370; 27 S Ct 742; 51 L Ed 1098 (1907), and *Mattingly v District of Columbia*, 97 US 687 (1878) – reveals that both cases support *Plaintiffs*' argument that the Legislature knows how to make enactments retroactive, but chose not to expressly do so.

In *Heinszen*, Congress initially passed an act prospectively permitting the United States government to keep tariffs levied and collected on goods coming into the Philippine Islands

when those Islands were under military control of the United States during the Spanish American War. When the peace treaty with Spain was signed in 1899, ending the war, it ended the President's ability to impose and collect the tariffs. However, the United States government continued to impose and collect the tariffs and Congress subsequently enacted a law in 1906 retroactively authorizing the government to impose and keep the tariff proceeds collected between 1899 and 1902.

The US Supreme Court first found that there was, after the treaty with Spain, no authority to implement the tariffs during those years, but then upheld the Congressional Act retroactively permitting the implementation and collection of said tariffs. The 1906 Act stated, in part:

That the tariff duties, both import and export, imposed by the authorities of the United States or of the provisional military government thereof in the Philippine Islands **prior to March eight, nineteen hundred and two**, at all ports and places in said islands, upon all goods, wares and merchandise imported into said islands from the United States, or from foreign countries, . . . **is hereby legalized and ratified and confirmed as fully to all intents and purposes as if the same had, by prior act of Congress, been specifically authorized and directed.**

Heinszen, 206 US at 381; emphasis added.

In upholding the retroactive legislation, the US Supreme Court explained, "[T]he text of the act of Congress is unambiguous, and manifests, *as explicitly as can be done*, the purpose of Congress to ratify. . . ." *Heinszen*, 206 US at 382 (emphasis added). Unlike the present case, the legislative body in *Heinszen* (i.e., Congress) expressly stated that it intended to ratify a previous act of the military government of the United States.³

While Defendants claim the Legislature "clearly intended" PA 300 to apply to the money taken prior to the enactment of PA 300 (Defendant's Brief, at 42), they have not identified

³An almost identical factual situation existed in the 1878 *Mattingly* case cited by Defendants. As a result, both cases cited by Defendants actually reinforce the Michigan cases relied upon by Plaintiffs to support their retroactivity argument.

"clear, direct and unequivocal" language within the legislation to indicate that this was retroactively intended. *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 155-156. Instead, their analysis on this point is backwards – i.e., Defendants suggest the Legislature could have included language within PA 300 specifying that the amendments applied only to contributions made on or after the effective date of the act (i.e., *prospectively*), but that it somehow deliberately chose not to. This ignores the presumption against retroactivity, where statutes are already considered to be prospective unless there is clear, direct and unequivocal language to indicate otherwise.

C. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the case is not moot.

The Court of Appeals addressed the issue of mootness in light of PA 300 and *AFT II*, and properly concluded that those subsequent occurrences did not render moot the ongoing situation with PA 75. According to the Court of Appeals:

It is undisputed that during the mandatory period, three percent of public school employees' contracted-for wages were withheld by their employers. Those wages, totaling more than \$550 million, are being held in escrow pending a final determination in this case. The parties agree that if 2010 PA 75, as it applied during the mandatory period, is found to be constitutional, then the funds held in escrow will be provided to the state, but that if it is found to be unconstitutional, then the escrowed funds will be returned to the employees who earned them. Because determination of the constitutional questions before us will have a practical legal effect on the disposition of the escrowed funds, the issues raised in these cases are not moot.

AFT III, 315 Mich App at 612 (emphasis added).

This reference to the agreement in the Stipulation and Order of September 8, 2010 (Appellees' Appendix, at 3b-5b) illustrates the ongoing issues that preclude a finding of mootness.

PA 300 has not and cannot render the deductions mandated by PA 75 voluntary, which was the premise upon which PA 300 was deemed constitutional by *AFT II*. Although PA 300 allowed employees to opt out via Section 91a(5), they could not get their previously-taken

money back at that time. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, there is no mechanism in PA 300 to give them back the money previously taken via PA 75 if they did opt out under PA 300. See, *AFT III*, 315 Mich App at 615, n 3.

For those who did not opt out, nothing in PA 300 expressly waived their rights to the money which had been already involuntarily taken via PA 75, and already deemed by the Court of Appeals to have been taken unconstitutionally from their earned compensation.

Finding the issues were not moot, the Court of Appeals did not err in considering the remaining arguments presented before it on remand.

D. <u>Defendants' new arguments as to the Legislature's plenary powers do not</u> affect the outcome of this case.

Defendants raise the argument that PA 75 is presumed to be a constitutional exercise of the Legislature's plenary powers. (Defendant's Brief, at 8-15.) Relying on Const 1963 art 4, §§1 and 51, Defendants suggest the courts should not second-guess the Legislature's wisdom on plenary powers issues. However, this is not dispositive in situations involving constitutional challenges.

Defendants had not raised the "plenary powers" argument before their Application from *AFT III*, and to the extent it is a new argument, they have not preserved error for the Court to consider at this time. Defendants have been litigating this matter since 2010 through a decision in the Court of Claims, two decisions of the Court of Appeals, and one prior Application for Leave to Appeal, and have thus far failed to raise the issue of plenary powers until now. There is a "time-honored rule that, absent unusual circumstances, issues not raised at trial may not be raised on appeal." *Peterman v State Dep't of Natural Resources*, 446 Mich 177, 183; 521 NW2d 499, 503 (1994) (citations omitted). As a result, courts consider a party to have waived a claim if they do not raise it at the trial level. *Napier v Jacobs*, 429 Mich 222, 227; 414 NW2d 862 (1987)

("A general rule of trial practice is that failure to timely raise an issue waives review of that issue on appeal.") (citations omitted). As a result, no credence should be given to Defendants' arguments in this respect.

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